

COUNSELLING ATTITUDE AS MEDIATOR BETWEEN ADULT ATTACHMENT AND CYBERSEX ACTIVITIES AMONG UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS IN A PUBLIC UNIVERSITY IN MALAYSIA

HARISA HAWAFI

FPP 2018 12

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



I dedicated this work to:

My beloved mother, Nur Ainis Binti Jamili
My beloved father, Hawafi Bin Gisam
My beloved brother, Ainul Yakin Bin Hawafi
My sweet little sister, Nur Erfana Hawafi

Thank you, Allah, for grant me such a wonderful family!

Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

COUNSELLING ATTITUDE AS MEDIATOR BETWEEN ADULT ATTACHMENT AND CYBERSEX ACTIVITIES AMONG UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS IN A PUBLIC UNIVERSITY IN MALAYSIA

By

HARISA BINTI HAWAFI

November 2017

Chairman : Siti Aishah Hassan, PhD
Faculty : Educational Studies

The existence of internet has changed human behaviour in many aspects of life. The number of internet subscribers in Malaysia has been increasing tremendously. This scenario contributed to the growth of internet usage which has caused profound shifts in the way people interact and behave. There were more internet-related social problems and issue such as cybersex activities has received significant attention from people. The main objective of this research is to examine the mediating roles of counselling attitudes on the relationship between adult attachment and cybersex activities among undergraduate in a public university. This research employed descriptive and correlational research design. The respondents (n = 269) were selected through multistage random cluster sampling. Self-administered questionnaires were distributed to the respondents in the collegial residences at a public university. The data were analysed using SPSS 22.0 for descriptive analysis and AMOS 22.0 for inferential analysis. Majority of the respondents (82.50%) have medium level of counselling helpseeking attitude. While for adult attachment style, the dominant pattern of adult attachment style among respondents is adult attachment close (M=3.223, SD= 0.539). Next, for cybersex activities, the majority of respondents (63.9%) have low level of cybersex activities. A hypothesized model was established to examine the direct and indirect effect between variables. This model was admissible (GFI= .908, AGFI= .879, CFI=.922, IFI=.924, NFI=.910, TLI=.907, RMSEA=.047). The results show there are no significant direct effect of all types adult attachment styles on cybersex activities. However, there is a significant direct effect between all adult attachment styles on

negative counselling attitudes. For counselling attitudes, there is significant direct relationship between negative counselling attitudes on cybersex. The model shows that counselling attitudes is a full mediator between adult attachment and cybersex activities. This study shows the adult attachment is not directly influence university students in cybersex activities, but, they involved in cybersex activities if they have negative counselling attitudes. Practically, this study shows that counselling services is important to influence clients in cybersex involvement. Thus, counsellors have prominent roles to shift undergraduate students' attachment to their boyfriend or girlfriend from secure attachment to insecure attachment. The prevention programs on cybersex engagement is effective if the counsellors help clients to get rid of their negative attitudes.



SIKAP TERHADAP KAUNSELING SEBAGAI PERANTARA ANTARA PERAPATAN DEWASA DAN AKTIVITI SEKS SIBER DALAM KALANGAN PELAJAR PRASISWAZAH DI SEBUAH UNIVERSITI AWAM DI MALAYSIA

Oleh

HARISA BINTI HAWAFI

November 2017

Pengerusi : Siti Aishah Hassan, Ph.D Fakulti : Pengajian Pendidikan

Kewujudan internet telah mengubah tingkah laku manusia dalam segenap aspek kehidupan. Jumlah pelanggan internet di Malaysia meningkat dengan sangat pesat. Senario ini menyumbang kepada perkembangan penggunaan internet, yang menyebabkan anjakan yang besar kepada interaksi dan tingkah laku manusia. Pada masa kini, terdapat banyak masalah sosial yang dikaitkan dengan kesan penggunaan internet seperti seks siber, mendapat perhatian daripada banyak pihak. Objektif utama kajian ini adalah untuk mengkaji kesan perantara sikap untuk mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling terhadap hubungan perapatan dewasa dengan aktiviti seks siber dalam kalangan pelajar prasiswazah di sebuah universii awam. Kajian ini menggunakan reka bentuk kajian deskriptif dan korelasi. Responden (n= 269) dipilih secara rawak melalui persampelan rawak kluster berperingkat. Soal selidik diedarkan kepada responden di kawasan kolejkolej kediaman di sebuah universiti awam. Data deskriptif dianalisis menggunakan SPSS 22.0, manakala perisian AMOS 22.0 digunakan untuk menganalisis data jenis inferensi. Kajian mendapati majoriti responden (82.5%) mempunyai tahap sederhana untuk mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling. Bagi perapatan dewasa, jenis perapatan dewasa yang paling banyak dikongsi oleh responen ialah jenis perapatan close. Seterusnya, majoriti responden (63.9%) mempunyai tahap penglibatan yang rendah dalam aktiviti seks siber. Model hipotesis dibangunkan untuk menguji kesan langsung dan tidak langsung antara pemboleh ubah. Indeks kesepadanan nilai model hipotesis diterima (GFI= .908, AGFI= .879, CFI=.922, IFI=.924, NFI=.910, TLI=.907, RMSEA=.047). Keputusan kajian mendapati tidak terdapat kesan langsung yang signifikan bagi semua jenis perapatan

dewasa ke atas aktiviti seks siber. Seterusnya, kesemua perapatan dewasa menunjukkan terdapat kesan langsung yang signifikan ke atas sikap negatif mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling. Bagi sikap mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling, hasil kajian menunjukkan terdapat hubungan yang signifikan antara sikap negatif untuk mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling ke atas seks siber. Model menunjukkan sikap negatif untuk mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling merupakan perantara penuh antara perapatan dewasa dengan aktiviti seks siber. Kajian ini menunjukkan perapatan dewasa tidak mempengaruhi secara langsung ke atas penglibatan pelajar dalam aktiviti seks siber, namun mereka terlibat dalam aktiviti tersebut sekiranya mempunyai sikap negatif untuk mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling. Kajian ini menunjukkan bahawa perkhidmatan kaunseling mempunyai peranan yang signifikan dalam mempengaruhi penglibatan pelajar dalam aktiviti seks siber. Oleh itu, kaunselor bertanggungjawab untuk mengubah perapatan dewasa pelajar prasiswazah terhadap teman lelaki atau teman wanita dari perapatan selamat kepada perapatan tidak selamat. Program pencegahan aktiviti seks siber akan lebih efektif sekiranya kaunselor membantu klien untuk menyingkirkan sikap negatif terhadap kaunseling.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Alhamdulillah, thanks to Allah, the most Merciful, that showered His bless and mercy to His servant.

First and foremost, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Associate Professor Dr. Siti Aishah Hassan. I was lucky to have great supervisor, who sacrifices her leisure time to support and motivate me. She has always been there, through my ups and downs especially this beautiful journey of accomplishing my Master's study. May Allah grant His blessing and mercy to her.

Besides that, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my co-supervisor, Associate Professor Dr. Ahmad Fauzi Mohd Ayob. He is a dedicated and committed supervisor. He coaches his students, including me to produce applicable improvements in our academic performance.

I also would like to convey my special thanks to all lecturers in the Department of Counsellor Education and Counselling Psychology, Faculty of Educational Studies, UPM for their continued support, dedication, and enthusiasm in assisting me toward achieving my goals. These special thanks go to Dr. Wan Marzuki Wan Jaafar, Prof. Dr. Sidek Mohd Noah, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Hj. Jamaluddin Ahmad, Dr. Noor Syamilah Zakaria, Dr. Asmah Ismail and Lt. Kol. Othman Jailani. May Allah grant His Rahman to all of you.

I would like to express my high appreciation to Ministry of Higher Education (MyBrain 15), Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Research Fellow) and Public Service of Malaysia (*Program Mahasiswa Cemerlang* scholarship) for their financial support during my postgraduate study.

Thank you to all my friends who stayed with me through my wonderful journey especially Suriana, Kak Cik, Kak Neerushah, Nabihah, Shazna, Kak Dzilal, Kak Sofiah and wonderful friends in researchers' office. Moreover, I would like to thank my *ummi*, Madam Kalsom Abu Bakar who helped me a lot during my undergraduate and postgraduate journey. Having you in my journey is such a blessing from Allah.

Lastly, I would like to express my gratitude to my lovely family, especially my parents, who have always been staying, praying, motivating, inspiring, and listening to me. May

Allah shower all of them with bless and mercy in here and hereafter. Thank you to my brother and sister who have always been there for me, and thanks to my beloved aunties who always take care of me.

For those that I do not mention your name here, I shout your name loudly in my prayer, for your persistent support, motivation and inspiration.

This journey would not be complete without all of you. May Allah grant His Jannah to all of you, for your kindness and support. Again, thank you so much!



I certify that a Thesis Examination Committee has met on 27th November 2017 to conduct the final examination of Harisa Binti Hawafi on her thesis entitled "Counselling Attitude as Mediator between Adult Attachment and Cybersex Activities Among Undergraduate Students in A Public University in Malaysia" in accordance with the Universities and University Colleges Act 1971 and the Constitution of the Universities Putra Malaysia [P.U.(A) 106] 15 March 1998. The Committee recommends that the student be awarded the Master of Science.

Members of the Thesis Examination Committee were as follows:

Sidek bin Mohd Noah, PhD

Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Wan Marzuki bin Wan Jaafar, PhD

Associate Professor
Faculty of Educational Studies
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Internal Examiner)

Salleh bin Amat, PhD

Associate Professor Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Malaysia (External Examiner)

> NORAINI AB. SHUKOR, PhD Professor and Deputy Dean School of Graduate Studies

Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date: 29 January 2018

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Siti Aishah Hassan, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Ahmad Fauzi Mohd Ayob, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

ROBIAH BINTI YUNUS, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

Declaration by graduate student

I hereby confirm that:

- This thesis is my original work;
- Quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- This thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any other institutions;
- Intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- Written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and Innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- There is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software.

| Signature: | Date: | |
|----------------------|-------|--|
| Name and Matric No.: | | |

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- The research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- Supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

| Signature: | |
|---------------------------------------|------------|
| Name of | |
| Chairman of | |
| Supervisory | |
| Committee: Siti Aishah Hassan, PhD | |
| | |
| | 413 674 67 |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Signature: | |
| Name of | |
| Member of | |
| Supervisory | |
| Committee: Ahmad Fauzi Mohd Ayob, PhD | |
| | |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | | Page |
|---------|--|------|
| ABSTRA | | i |
| ABSTRA | | iii |
| | WLEDGEMENT | V |
| APPRO | | vii |
| | RATION | ix |
| | TABLES | xiv |
| | FFIGURES | XV |
| LIST OF | FABBREVIATIONS | xvi |
| СНАРТ | ER P | |
| 1 | INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| | Overview of The Chapter | 1 |
| | Background of The Study | 1 |
| | The Counselling Services in Malaysia | 2 |
| | Online Sexual Activities | 2 |
| | Cybersex and Counselling Help-Seeking | 5 |
| | Statement of The Problem | 7 |
| | Objectives of The Study | 9 |
| | Research Questions | 9 |
| | Hypotheses | 10 |
| | Significance of The Study | 11 |
| | Definition of Terms | 13 |
| | Counselling Attitudes | 13 |
| | Adult Attachment Styles | 13 |
| | Cybersex Activities | 14 |
| | Undergraduate Students | 15 |
| | Scope and Limitations | 15 |
| | Chapter Summary | 15 |
| | | |
| 2 | REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | 16 |
| | Overview of The Chapter | 16 |
| | Cybersex and Online Sexual Activities | 16 |
| | Cyber Affairs and Cyber-Relationship | 18 |
| | Compulsive Cybersex | 19 |
| | The Negative Effect of Cybersex Activities | 19 |
| | Theoretical Background | 24 |
| | Theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen, 1991) | 24 |
| | Attachment Theory | 25 |
| | Adult Attachment | 26 |
| | Psychoanalysis Theory | 29 |

| | The Psychosexual Stages of Development The Pleasure Principle Psychoanalysis and Cybersex Theoretical Framework Research Variables Counselling Attitudes Among University Students Adult Attachment Online Sexual Activities | 30 32 33 33 34 35 36 37 |
|---|--|--|
| | Review of The Related Study | 38 |
| | Adult Attachment, Cybersex, The Internet, and Sexual Activities | |
| | Adult Attachment, Help-Seeking Behaviours, and Perceived | |
| | Social Support | 41 |
| | Help-Seeking Attitudes, Internet and Sexual Activities | 42 |
| | Conceptual Framework | 43 |
| | Chapter Summary | 44 |
| 3 | RESEARCH METHODOLOGY | 45 |
| 3 | | 45 |
| | | 45 |
| | Subject of The Study | 46 |
| | Population of The Study | 47 |
| | | 47 |
| | Sampling Technique | 50 |
| | Instrumentation | 51 |
| | Attitudes towards Seeking Professional Psychological Help | |
| | Scale (ATSPPH; Fischer & Turner, 1970) | 51 |
| | Validity of ATSPPHS | 53 |
| | Reliability of ATSPPHS | 53 |
| | Revised Adult Attachment Scale (RAAS; Read & Collins, 1996) | |
| | Validity of RAAS | 55 |
| | Reliability of RAAS | 55 |
| | Malaysian Internet and Sexual Activities Inventory (MISAI-21; | 56 |
| | Siti Aishah et al., 2008, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017) Validity of MISAI-21 | 56 57 |
| | Reliability of MISAI-21 | 57 |
| | Research Procedure | 57 |
| | Ethical Consideration | 58 |
| | Pilot Study | 58 |
| | Statistical Data Analysis | 59 |
| | Preparation of The Data | 59 |
| | Assessment of Normality | 59 |
| | Outliers | 60 |
| | Multicollinearity | 60 |
| | Data Analysis | 61 |
| | Descriptive Analysis | 61 |

| | Analysis of Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) | 61 |
|---------------|--|-----|
| | Confirmatory Factor Analysis | 63 |
| | The Measurement Model | 70 |
| | The Hypothesized Model Input | 71 |
| | Summary of The Data Analysis | 72 |
| | Chapter Summary | 74 |
| 4 | RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS | 75 |
| | Overview of The Chapter | 75 |
| | The Profile of The Respondents | 75 |
| | The Level of Counselling Help-Seeking Attitudes | 77 |
| | The Dominant Adult Attachment Styles | 80 |
| | The Level of Cybersex Activities | 84 |
| | Findings on Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) | 87 |
| | The Direct Effect Between Adult Attachment and Counselling | |
| | Attitudes | 89 |
| | The Direct Effect of Counselling Attitudes and Cybersex Activities | 91 |
| | The Direct Effect Between Adult Attachment and Cybersex Activities | 92 |
| | The Mediation Effect of Adult Attachment and Cybersex Activities | |
| | Through Counselling Attitudes | 94 |
| | The Final Model | 95 |
| | Chapter Summary | 96 |
| 5 | SUMMARY, CONCLUSION, IMPLICATIONS, AND | |
| | RECOMMENDATIONS | 97 |
| | Overview of The Chapter | 97 |
| | Summary of The Study | 97 |
| | Conclusion of The Study | 99 |
| | Implication of The Study | 99 |
| | Theoretical Implications | 100 |
| | | 102 |
| | Recommendations for The Future Research | 103 |
| REFERI | ENCES | 105 |
| APPENI | APPENDICES 1 | |
| BIODAT | CA OF STUDENT | 139 |
| PUBLIC | ATIONS | 140 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table | | Page |
|-------|--|------|
| 2.1 | The summary of negative effects of cybersex | 22 |
| 2.2 | The psychosexual stage development | 32 |
| 3.1 | The characteristics of explanatory research | 46 |
| 3.2 | Determining sample size for continues data | 48 |
| 3.3 | Rotated component matrix for ATSPPHS | 51 |
| 3.4 | Distribution of items in ATSPPHS | 52 |
| 3.5 | The distribution of positive and negative item in ATTPSH | 53 |
| 3.6 | The score of ATSPPHS | 53 |
| 3.7 | The distribution of items and description of adult attachment styles | 54 |
| 3.8 | The items of RAAS | 54 |
| 3.9 | The distribution of items in MISAI-21 | 56 |
| 3.10 | Scoring and description of MISAI-21 | 57 |
| 3.11 | Cronbach Alpha for pilot study | 59 |
| 3.12 | Multicollinearity statistics | 61 |
| 3.13 | The Goodness-of-fit Indices | 64 |
| 3.14 | The summary of data analysis | 72 |
| 4.1 | The distribution of respondents based on gender | 75 |
| 4.2 | The distribution of respondents based on age group | 76 |
| 4.3 | The distribution of respondents based on year of study | 76 |
| 4.4 | The time spent for online activities (hour/week) | 77 |
| 4.5 | The level of counselling help-seeking attitudes among respondents | 77 |
| 4.6 | The frequency of items of ATSPPHS | 78 |
| 4.7 | The distribution of items for RAAS | 81 |
| 4.8 | The level of cybersex activities | 84 |
| 4.9 | The distribution of items for MISAI-21 | 85 |
| 4 10 | Summary of the goodness-of-fit of the structural model | 89 |
| 4.11 | The direct effect of adult attachment on counselling attitudes | 90 |
| 4.12 | The direct effect of counselling attitudes and cybersex activities | 92 |
| 4.13 | The direct effect of adult attachment and cybersex activities | 93 |
| 4.14 | The direct, indirect and total effect between variables | 94 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure | | Page |
|--------|---|------|
| 2.1 | Theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen, 1991) | 25 |
| 2.2 | The Prototype of Adult Attachment (Bartholomew, 1997) | 28 |
| 2.3 | Theoretical Framework of The Research | 34 |
| 2.4 | The Conceptual Framework of The Research | 44 |
| 3.1 | Flow Chart of Multistage Cluster Sampling | 50 |
| 3.2 | Full Mediating Effect | 63 |
| 3.3 | Partial Mediating Effect | 63 |
| 3.4 | CFA for Initial Counselling Attitudes | 65 |
| 3.5 | CFA for Modified Counselling Attitudes | 66 |
| 3.6 | CFA For Initial Model Of RAAS | 67 |
| 3.7 | CFA For Modified RAAS | 68 |
| 3.8 | CFA For Initial Model Of MISAI-21 | 69 |
| 3.9 | CFA for Modified MISAI-21 | 70 |
| 3.10 | The Measurement Model | 71 |
| 3.11 | The Hypothesized Structural Model Input | 72 |
| 4.1 | The Hypothesized Model Output | 88 |
| 4.2 | Results of Path Coefficient | 96 |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAS Adult Attachment Styles
ANX Adult Attachment Anxiety

ATPPHS Attitudes towards Professional Psychological Help Scale

AVE Average Variance Extract

B Unstandardized Regression Weight

C.R Critical Ratio

CA Counselling Attitudes

CFA Confirmatory Factor Analysis

CFI Comparative Fit Index CLOSE Adult Attachment Close

CMIN Minimum Sample of Discrepancy

CMIN/DF Discrepancy/df

CR Composite Reliability
CS Cybersex Activities
DEP Adult Attachment Close
DF Degree of Freedom
DV Dependent Variable
GFI Goodness-of-Fit Index
IV Independent Variable

M Mean

MCMC Malaysian Commission of Multimedia and Communication

MeV Mediating Variable

NCA Negative Counselling Attitude

NFI Normed Fit Index
NPAR Number of Parameter

PCA Positive Counselling Attitude
RAAS Revised Adult Attachment Styles

RMSEA Root Mean Square Error of Approximation

SD Standard Deviation S.E Standard Error

SEM Structural Equation Modelling

SPSS Statistical Packages for Social Sciences

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Overview of the Chapter

This chapter begins with the introduction of the counselling services in Malaysia. Next, the researcher explains about the existence of internet and online sexual activities, as well as its impact on society. The problem statement discusses the gaps from previous studies and how this research fills those gaps. Then, the objectives, research questions, and hypotheses are drawn to have a clear focus on this study's undertaking. The researcher also explains about the significance of the study, definition of terms, scope, and limitations. Chapter one ends with a summary of this chapter.

Background of the Study

Recently, the internet has changed the social landscape of human being. Although the internet has significant role in making our life more convenient, the potential negative impact of internet still need to be considered over the time. The example of negative impact of the internet on the society including cyber-bullying (Kowalski & Limber, 2013), love scams, fraud (Hamsi, Bahry, Tobi, & Masrom, 2015; Owoyemi, Din, & Sabri, 2015), and cybersex activities (Ballester-Arnal, Calvo, Gil-Llario, & Gil-Julia, 2016). There are numerous literatures that highlights the issue of cybersex as it is one of the alarming issues in the world and causes negative impacts to the marital dysfunction (Anderson, 2001; Bridges, Bergner, & Hesson-McInnis, 2003; Goldberg, Peterson, Rosen, & Sara, 2008; Schneider, 2000) as well as behavioural problems (Rimington & Gast, 2013). Thus, the role of counsellors is more challenging, and higher level of competency to help clients with cybersex issues is required (Mohd. Zaliridrizal & Dini Farhana, 2011;Siti Aishah, 2015).

The previous study shows that the cybersex issue is not a new issue in the world and this issue is still unveiled in Malaysia. As the crucial role of counsellors is significant to overcome this unveiled issue, the researcher next will discuss the history of guidance and counselling in Malaysia. The counsellor roles on cybersex issues are discussed in detail.

The Counselling Services in Malaysia

The history of guidance and counselling in Malaysia has been influenced by the economic and social changes ranging from the agricultural to the industrial sectors (Jamaludin, 2014). The movement of guidance and counselling services in Malaysia began in 1963 (Low, Kok, & Lee, 2013), but then later developed rapidly in the 1980s (See & Ng, 2010).

As for the youth, their massive involvement in drug-related issues has long pressured the government to hire counsellors in every school in Malaysia. The position of full-time school counsellors was introduced in 1996, where the role of teaching for the school counsellors was lessened as they have dual functions: to teach and to counsel students at the same time. By the 2000s, each school in Malaysia had at least one full-time school counsellor (See & Ng, 2010).

In the 1990s, the counselling services was not only demanded in schools, but for the society at large. The rapid economic development had changed the structure and functions of the family, urging them to seek help through counselling (Jamaludin, 2014). In the corporate sector, the need of counselling has begun to increase as employers are more aware of the importance of mental health among their employees. Thus, the corporate sector such as *Telekom Malaysia Berhad*, National Bank of Malaysia, *Sistem Televisyen Malaysia Berhad*, Public Service of Malaysia, and Malaysian Royal Navy hired counsellors in their respective departments (Jamaludin, 2014).

Online Sexual Activities

The existence of free online pornography websites ignites the increasing number of people engaging in cybersex activities. The growth of the internet is in line with the growth of the sex industry. Hughes (2000) stated that the present rate of the internet industry would have not expanded without the help of sex industries. It shows that sex related trading has contributed to the growth of the internet. Covenant Eyes (2015) reported that the total revenue from pornography industries was estimated to be \$20 billion, where \$10 billion was contributed by the United States of America (USA) in 2007. There was a 50% decrease in the revenue earned by the USA due to the free online pornography from the year 2007 till 2011.

According to Wery, Devos, DeSutter, and Billieux (2014), there are many individuals who use the internet for sexual purposes such as watch pornography, engage in sexual

chats, search and participate in sex-webcam and seek for offline sexual partners. Cybersex is a loose term that encompasses a variety of internet-mediated sexual activities, in which some are regarded are as pathological (Starcevic & Aboujaoude, 2015). Cybersex also defined as a subcategory of online sexual activities, which includes two or more people engaging in online sexual talk to get sexual pleasure and may or may not include masturbation (Daneback, Cooper, and Månsson, 2005).

Furthermore, Laier and Brand (2014) stated that cybersex includes the use of internet for sexual purposes interactively or passively. Interactive cybersex refers to self-involvement in cybersex activities such as sex chatting and sexual self-displaying or watching other individuals performing sexual actions through a webcam. In contrast, passive cybersex takes place when an individual watches pornographic material. Cybersex activities in a broader spectrum include sexual contacts via the internet, the involvement of online trading for sexual products, accessing information on sexual issues, using online service sex, and searching for online sex workers (Döring, 2009; Laier & Brand, 2014). Meanwhile, Cooper, Delmonico, Griffin-Shelly and Mathy (2004) defined cybersex as using the internet to engage in gratifying sexual activities such as viewing pictures, engaging in sexual chats, exchanging sexually explicit emails, and "cybering".

Delmonico (1997) defined cybersex based on three conditions: a) people engage in cybersex by viewing and exchanging pornographic material; b) cybersex as the first step interaction before indulging in real sexual conduct; and c) cybersex conducted offline where multimedia systems act as a medium to channel one's sexual desires.

As the internet contributes to the involvement in cybersex activities as cited in Hughes (2000), then the negative effect of cybersex to the society are outnumbered. First, the negative impact of cybersex can be view through the macro level, when it promotes human sexual trading through online. Waterlow (2015) reported in *MailOnline* that the Philippines became a hub for the cybersex industry where girls from poverty-driven backgrounds were enslaved for cybersex purposes. The preys who are mostly teenagers were recruited for online prosecution. The economic problems being the major excuses of the family members to hand over their children to the pedophiles.

The crimes due to cybersex activities continues as reported by Chibba (2013) in explaining cybersex trafficking. Cybersex trafficking elaborated as prostitution businesses that operates through online. This sexual trading involves underaged girl that had been exploited and forced to pose nakedly to satisfy their online clients with certain amount of payment (Chibba, 2013). The demand for cybersex trafficking can be both; either within the country or cross over the country. The concept of cyber trafficking

supported Döring (2009) and Li and Zheng (2016) that stated internet provides a space for individual to search online prostitutes.

In Malaysia, the awareness on the threat of cybersex among youth was promoted by Olivia, Shereen, and Rohani (2015), through their paper on anti-sexting and cyberlaw in Malaysia. The descriptive findings onto 27 youth in Malaysia found 94% of the respondents do not know the law enforcement on sexting, meanwhile they have greater chances to be involved in cybersex activities. Even the generalization of the findings cannot be made due to the limited number of sample, it still can help us to understand the cybersex issues in Malaysia. Thus, they suggested that specific on sexting should be enforced by the government even there are numerous cyber laws in Malaysia due to the low awareness and knowledge about sexting among young adult (Olivia et al., 2015).

Among Malaysian university students, Ghoroghi (2016) conducted a study among postgraduate students in Klang Valley, Selangor (n= 256). A descriptive analysis on respondents' time spent for cybersex activities shows 58.59% of them are engaged in cybersex activities. In detail, 122 of the respondents spent one to five hours per week for cybersex, 24 respondents spent six to ten hours per week and only four respondents spent 11 to 15 hours per week. Another 106 respondents are not spent their time for cybersex activity.

Secondly, cybersex activities contribute negative consequences at the micro level which includes individual, couple and family. A study by Akerman and Priebe (2011) on 2015 male students in Sweden who were 18 years old found that 10.5% (n=200) are frequent users of pornography. Furthermore, the frequent users of pornography were found to have been involved in unhealthy social activities such as consuming alcohol, having the greater sexual desire, and often sold sex to others. In another research, cybersex has not only contributed to social problems, but it has also affected academic performance and motivation among university students (Syamsul Anuar, 2003).

Besides that, cybersex disrupts marital relationships which may cause emotional distress such as hurt, betrayal, anger, and loneliness. The other effects of cybersex on marital relationships are divorce, and loss of interest in sexual intercourse which in turn can affect children's life and emotions (Schneider, 2003). People who are compulsive users of cybersex are often presented with underlying trauma, depression or addiction (Southern, 2008). Thus, past studies proved that cybersex affects users in many aspects of lives such as academic, marriage, work performances, and mental wellness.

Cooper (1998) introduced the "Triple A" Engine to explain why people engage in cybersex activities. The A's are access, affordability, and anonymity. Access refers to

the characteristics of the internet which is "easy to pass" and "easy to log". People can access the internet if they own a computer or a smartphone. In addition, there is no time limit when it comes to using the internet, and people are free to surf anytime and anywhere.

Cooper (1998) explained that affordability refers to the low economic spending by people to access sexual material via the internet. Covenant Eyes (2015) reported that the total revenue of online pornography business reduced to 50% due to free online pornographic websites. Statistics show that 80% to 90% of internet porn users prefer to access free online material. Lastly, the internet has the power to conceal the identity of users. This characteristic is known as anonymity and thus, attracts people to explore sexually explicit material because there is more freedom to do so without the risk of revealing one's identity; there is a freedom to experiment; and the freedom to talk openly about sex, questions, concerns and/or fantasies without people knowing your identity.

The "Triple A" Engine proposed by Cooper (1998) revealed some of the factors that lead people to engage in cybersex. Due to the mechanism of access, affordability, and anonymity, the number of people involved in cybersex has been increasing across the globe. In the United States, 70% of teenagers aged between 15 to 17 years old reported having viewed pornography accidentally during online browsing (Mitchell, Finkelhor, & Wolak, 2003). In Taiwan, it was reported that 40% of teenagers aged between 14 to 17 years old had been exposed to internet pornography (Lo & Wei, 2005).

Cybersex and Counselling Help-Seeking

The cybersex issues are controversially discussed (Laier, Pawlikowski, Pekal, Schulte, & Brand, 2013) and the roles of professional mental health such as counsellor is crucial (Mohd. Zaliridrizal & Dini Farhana, 2011; Siti Aishah, 2015). Due to the effects on mental health, academic and job performances, as well as couples and family, the governments all over the countries are forced to provide a support centre to combat the problems due to excessive used of the internet (Karapetsas & Fotis, 2013), especially on cybersex issues. The needs of the centre are supported through the previous study that found cybersex issues that had been discussed through the therapy or counselling sessions.

McEachern, McEachern-Ciattoni, and Martin (2012) stated that cybersex is the present challenge for schools and professional school counsellors. Thus, school counsellors play as a front liner to unite parents, schools, communities as well as policy makers to combat cybersex activities such as sexting among school students. The prevention programs such

as psychoeducational programs are vital to educate students on the implication of cybersex to their academic, emotional and career.

The average of clients with cybersex issues treated by Marital Family Therapist (MFT) was four clients per year (Goldberg, Peterson, Rosen, & Sara, 2008). Through this study, 30% of the therapist found cybersex issues was presented by the clients who came to the therapy. In addition, 16% of the therapists stated that cybersex was the primary issues that discussed by the clients through the sessions.

A qualitative study conducted by Zakaria and Baharudin (2011) onto five registered counsellors in Malaysia found cybersex issues was presented in couple and marital issues among Malaysian. There are many interventions that had been practised to the clients with cybersex issues such as psycho-spiritual intervention, behavioural therapy, marital and family therapy, as well as relapse interventions.

Ford, Durtschi, and Franklin (2012) discussed Structural Therapy can be applied to help family with cybersex issues. The coalition and triangulation were established in the family with cybersex issues. The formation of coalition is occurred between problematic spouse with his or her cybersex addiction. This coalition will against his or her non-problematic spouse, results to the imbalance of the couple's structure. According to Ford, Durtschi, and Franklin (2012), the formation of triangulation between problematic spouse, non-problematic spouse and cybersex endangered the structure of the couple. Thus, structural therapy will focus on the formation of the new coalition and retriangulated between spouse against cybersex. The couple will cooperate and support each other to reduce his or her problematic spouse in cybersex.

Twohig and Crosby (2010) had introduced Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) as an intervention to help clients with cybersex problems. This therapy is a technique that underlies Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT). The focus of the therapy is to change client's experience on problematic behaviour to new accepted experiences. In this context, the involvement in cybersex activities is the problematic behaviour of the clients. Then, they will be assisted to commit in new meaningful experiences. This eight-session treatment help to reduce 85% of the involvement in cybersex activities.

From the discussion above, it is shows that cybersex is one of the issues that required attention from the professional mental health practitioners, especially counsellors. However, there are some limitations for cybersex engagers to seek professional help regarding their openness to discuss sexual issues with counsellor (Ferree, 2003). Moreover, sexual issues is a taboo to be shared with others especially among Asian (Li et al., 2015).

In this section, the researcher discussed about the phenomenon of cybersex activities based on previous studies. Cybersex refers to the use of internet for sexual purposes and the explanation given to this definition by other scholars was consistent. The researcher next shows the needs of help-seeking in helping clients with cybersex problems. However, there are some researchers stated the reluctance of clients to seek help especially for clients with cybersex issues. Although cybersex activities are a matter of concern, this issue is still unconcealed in Malaysia. Thus, in the next section, the researcher will discuss on the gaps of the study and clarify why the study needs to be conducted.

Statement of the Problem

MCMC (2017) reported that approximately 15.6 million people use the internet, with 72.1% of them are at young age. University students (67.4%) are reported as the highest internet users among school-goers in Malaysia. Accordingly, university students have the highest chance to be engaged in cybersex activities due to their spent for online (Ghoroghi, 2016; Ghoroghi, Siti Aishah, & Ahmad Fauzi, 2017).

The involvement of students in cybersex activities is not aggressively covered, however, there are studies reported their involvement in cybersex activities in Malaysia (Ghoroghi, 2016; Ghoroghi et al., 2017; Jazilah & Siti Aishah, 2014; Nor Syafini, Hanif Suhairi, & Huzili, 2015; Syamsul Anuar, 2003). There is a study found the postgraduate students in Malaysia are engaged in online sexual activities, such as viewing pornography, sex chatting or reading erotica materials (Ghoroghi, 2016). In general, it can be argued that the internet has been used as a medium of cybersex activities by Malaysian internet users.

Recently, Malaysia Population and Family survey confirmed that youth aged 13 to 24 years old are involved in sexual activities, where 40% of them surfed for pornography (NPFDB, 2016). Consequently, cybersex activities contribute to the increasing rate of sexual activities among youth in Malaysia (NPFDB, 2016) from 0.9% in 1994 to 4.8% in 2014, where 6.5% of youth, who are involved in romantic relationship, have sexual intercourse. Hence, concerted effort must be taken to control cybersex activities among university students in Malaysia.

NPFDB (2016) also claimed that romantic relationship or attachment to partner is the driven factor to influence individual to be involved in cybersex activities. To date, dominant adult attachment style as a factor that influence cybersex activities is still not clear. Moreover, Nor Syafini et al. (2015) indicates that social media had been used by the students in Malaysia to be engaged in cybersex activities with their romantic partner.

Surprisingly, the study has revealed that cybersex activities, especially sexting is a common activity among unmarried youth in Malaysia to maintain their intimacy.

Counselling services are needed to not only help university students with academic, self-development and career but also to assist in psychological issues particularly cybersex activities. It is shows that the competency of counsellors in handling cybersex issues is crucial (Mohd. Zaliridrizal & Dini Farhana, 2011) due to negative consequences it may bring to students. Previous studies indicated that cybersex activities lead to marital dysfunction (Anderson, 2001; Bridges, Bergner, & Hesson-McInnis, 2003; Goldberg, Peterson, Rosen, & Sara, 2008; Schneider, 2000), psychological distress (Southern, 2008), poor academic and job performance (Syamsul Anuar, 2003). Although the negative consequences of cybersex have been highlighted in literature, study indicates that the number of cybersex engagers who seek help from counsellors is very limited (Ghoroghi, 2016). Thus, it is important to understand the underlaying factors such as the attitudes towards counselling help-seeking among cybersex engagers for counsellors to play their role in assisting them to cope with cybersex activities.

Despite the growing of importance to study cybersex involvement, little research has relatively been done in Malaysia on cybersex activities (Ghoroghi, 2016). It is due to the fact that sexual issue is a taboo subject to be discussed and shared with others (Li et al., 2015). Cybersex engagement studies have been conducted intensively in Western setting (Ballester-Arnal, Calvo, Gil-Llario, & Gil-Julia, 2016; Drouin & Landgraff, 2012; Levin, Lillis, & Hayes, 2012; Paul & Shim, 2008; Perry, Accordino, & Hewes, 2007), whereby the finding could not be generalized due to cultural and geographical differences.

Considering the vast amount of the internet users and the negative consequences of cybersex engagement, little is known about the underlaying factor that influence the involvement in cybersex activities and more specifically among university students in Malaysia. In fact, the study of cybersex activities in Malaysia is still limited in understanding the consequences of cybersex involvement, such as on academic and job performances (Syamsul Anuar, 2003).

Therefore, this study intends to fill the existing gap in the literature by investigating the relationship between counselling attitude, adult attachment, and cybersex activities. This study is conducted among undergraduate students in a public university in Malaysia. It is expected that this study will contribute to the literature and practitioners especially counsellors who deal with university students.

Objectives of the Study

The main objective of this study is to examine the mediating roles of counselling attitudes on the relationship between adult attachment and cybersex activities among undergraduate students in a public university.

Specifically, the objectives of this study are:

- 1) To measure the level of counselling attitudes among undergraduate student at a public university.
- 2) To describe the dominant pattern of adult attachment styles among undergraduate students in a public university.
- 3) To measure the level of cybersex activities among undergraduate students in a public university.
- 4) To examine the significant direct effect of adult attachment (close, depend, and anxiety) on attitudes towards counselling (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes).
- 5) To examine the significant direct effect of counselling attitudes (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes) on cybersex activities.
- 6) To examine significant direct effect of adult attachment (close, depend and anxiety) on cybersex activities.
- 7) To examine the significant indirect effect of adult attachment (close, depend and anxiety) on cybersex activities mediated by counselling attitudes.

Research Questions

The research questions are as follows:

- 1) What is the level of cybersex activities and counselling attitudes among undergraduate students in a public university?
- 2) What is the common pattern of adult attachment styles among undergraduate students in a public university?
- 3) What is the level of cybersex activities among undergraduate students in a public university?
- 4) Is there any significant direct effect of adult attachment (close, depend, and anxiety) on counselling attitudes (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes)?
- 5) Is there any significant direct effect of counselling attitudes (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes) on cybersex activities?
- 6) Is there any significant direct effect of adult attachment (close, depend, and anxiety) on cybersex activities?
- 7) Is there any significant indirect effect between adult attachment (close, depend, and anxiety) and cybersex activities mediated by counselling attitudes (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes)?

Hypotheses

The hypotheses that were formulated based on the objectives and research questions are as follows:

H1: There is a significant direct effect of adult attachment (close, depend, and anxiety) on counselling attitudes (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes).

H2 : There is significant direct effect of counselling attitudes (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes) on cybersex activities.

H3: There is a significant direct effect of adult attachment (close, depend, and anxiety) on cybersex activities.

H4 : There is a significant indirect effect on adult attachment (close, depend, and anxiety) and cybersex activities mediated by counselling attitudes (positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes).

Significance of the Study

The cybersex phenomenon is not a new issue and it moves around the world. There are many studies that shows the underlying factors, specifically adult attachment styles contribute to the involvement in cybersex activities. The concept of adult attachment (Hazan & Shaver, 1987) were adapted from Attachment Theory (Bowlby, 1977) to explain the attachment process in adulthood. The adult attachment is the formation of emotional bond between individual to their significant figure. The adult attachment styles, either there are securely or insecurely attached to their partner will affect their sexual behaviour.

There are interesting findings that show people with problematic internet and sexual issues are reluctant to seek help from professional mental health practitioner. To explain this situation, Theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen, 1991) was adopted in this study. There are three factors that influenced behaviour of an individual. Attitudes towards behaviour, social norms and perceived behaviour are the factors that influenced individual to perform behaviour. Malaysia that located in Asia, who are rich in culture and values view sexual issues is a taboo to be shared with professional figure (Lu, Ma, Lee, Hou, & Liao, 2014). Thus, it is important to notice either counselling attitudes is one of the underlying factor that mediate the relationship between adult attachment and cybersex activities.

In another side, the involvement in cybersex activities was to gain sexual pleasure which are align with the concept of pleasure principle as coined by Freud (1920) in Psychoanalysis Theory. The sexual force is the nature of the human being, where they are born with this psyche energy. The involvement in cybersex activities is a form of

pleasure satisfaction, which is contradict to reality principle. Theoretically, this study is the intertwine of three theories (Adult Attachment Theory, Theory of Planned Behaviour and Psychoanalysis Theory) that contribute the new body of knowledge.

For practical significance, the number of internet users in Malaysia has been increasing in line with the social problems that related to cybersex. However, the actual numbers of cybersex engager are still vague. Therefore, this research may help counsellors, psychologists, and mental health practitioners to be front liners in combating this social illness. Research on human behaviour may increase practitioners' knowledge and skills to achieve this goal. The current study which is related to human behaviour will help practitioners to understand the characteristics or human styles that may influence people to engage in cybersex. Their understanding of these behaviours may help to improvise the effectiveness of interventions.

The finding of the study can be the key references for the counsellor, especially to set up interventions for the clients with cybersex issues. By understanding Attachment Theory, counsellor act as an object who are consistently available for the subject (client). The fondness and calmness of the object through transference and counter-transference technique help to establish a positive mental image of the human to human relations that results in change of the insecure attachment to secure attachment of the clients (Siti Aishah, 2011).

Besides that, the findings of this study will be useful in the process of improving existing policies in Malaysia. As the youths are the pillar of the nation, their involvement in cybersex will definitely affect certain areas of their lives which in turn is detrimental to the development of the nation. The Ministries in Malaysia may gain more benefits by using the key ideas and core concepts of this research to improve their efforts and policies especially when dealing with cybersex issue. For an instance, through the findings of this research, MCMC would be able to find technical strategies to filter any suspicious online sexual activities done through the internet. Furthermore, the Ministry of Youth will be able to help raise public awareness and educate the youth about the implications of online sex and cybersex addiction.

The Board of Counsellors may provide special training for counsellors in handling cybersex cases. Technology is growing rapidly, and people are potentially exposed to cybersex threats. Thus, the training that specifics on cybersex need to be given to the counsellors to upgrade their skills and competencies in handling cybersex issues especially among university students.

Definition of Terms

The definition of terms used in this study is segregated into two sections which are conceptual definitions and operational definitions. The researcher defines conceptual definitions based on previous reviews of literature. Meanwhile, operational definitions are defined based on instruments that will be utilized in this research.

Counselling Attitudes

Conceptual Definition

Salim (2010) defined counselling attitudes as the readiness of the clients to seek for psychological services. Fisher and Farina (1995) defined attitudes towards psychological help as the overall evaluation, either positive or negative, towards professional psychological help.

Operational Definition

In the context of current study, counselling attitudes can be divided into positive counselling attitudes and negative counselling attitudes. The relevant instrument was adapted from Fisher and Turner's (1970) Attitudes towards Seeking Professional Psychological Help Scale.

Adult Attachment Styles

Conceptual Definition

The adult attachment was manifested from a research by John Bowlby in the 1950s which explained about the pattern of interaction between infants and their caretakers. This research then expanded from infancy to adult. Wilhelm, Gillis, and Parker (2016) described adult attachment as one's view of self (either worthy or unworthy of love and attention) and one's view of others (trustworthy, rejecting, or distant). On the contrary, Collins and Read (1990) classified adult attachment into three categories which are: a) close; b) depend; and c) anxiety. Adult attachment close refers to the extent to which a

person is comfortable with closeness and intimacy. While, adult attachment depend refers to the comfortableness of a person to rely on others when he or she needs them. Next, adult attachment anxiety refers to the anxiety of being rejected or abandoned by others.

Operational Definition

In this study, adult attachment was segregated into three types which are: a) adult attachment close; b) adult attachment depend; and c) adult attachment anxiety. The adult attachment was measured by using the Revised Adult Attachment Scale (RAAS) from Collins and Read (1995).

Cybersex Activities

Conceptual Definition

Delmonico (1997) categorised cybersex into three forms, which includes the exchange of online pornography, real time sexual exchanges, and multimedia software. Moreover, Delmonico (1997) defined cybersex as any activity that uses the internet for sexual purposes such as watching, downloading, online trading of erotic pictures or engaging in erotic conversation through the internet. Starcevic and Aboujaoude (2015) defined cybersex as the variety of internet-mediated sexual activities in which some of it may be regarded as pathological.

Operational Definition

In this study, cybersex activities refer to: i) cyber-relationship and ii) cybersex activities. Cybersex was measured by using the Malaysian Internet and Sexual Activities Inventory (MISAI-21; Siti Aishah et al., 2008, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017). MISAI-21 contains 21 items in which the scale ranges from strongly disagree to disagree mostly. The item of MISAI-21 are having boyfriend or girlfriend, Short Messaging Services (SMS), phone, social media, dating, watched pornography, sexual behaviour (hugging, kissing, masturbating, oral sex, intercourse, sodomised), sexual ID, and romantic purposes.

Undergraduate Students

Undergraduate students refer to students who are pursuing their undergraduate studies at one selected public university in Malaysia. They are Malaysians and aged between 19 to 27 years old.

Scope and Limitations

There are many limitations that should be noted and considered in this study. Firstly, this study was conducted at a public university in Malaysia in Selangor. This study was a conducted in one public university in Malaysia. The finding of this study is not generalised to all university students in Malaysia. The respondents of this study also were limited to Malaysian undergraduate students who are studying in a public university in Malaysia. The respondents were limited to Malaysian students because all the instruments were prepared in the Malay language. Furthermore, the age of respondents should not be less than 19 and should not be more than 27 years old. They must hold 'active student' status at undergraduate level.

The instruments were limited to three which are a) Attitudes Towards Seeking Professional Help (Fisher & Turner, 1970); b) Revised Adult Attachment Scale (RAAS; Collins & Read, 1996); and c) Malaysian Internet and Sexual Activities Inventory (MISAI-21; Siti Aishah et al., 2008, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017).

Also, for this study was limited to descriptive and correlational study. The findings descriptive findings of this study (RO1, RO2 and RO3) are representing the characteristics of the population in one public university in Malaysia. While, the inferential finding (RO4, RO5, RO6 and RO7) representing the relationship between variables without any cause and effect relationship.

Chapter Summary

In this chapter, the researcher explained the concept of cybersex, adult attachment, and the attitudes towards seeking counselling. The chapter also discussed about the problem statement, research questions, research objectives, research hypotheses, significance of the study, definitions of the terms, scope and limitations of the study.

REFERENCES

- Agisthein, P., & Brumbaugh, C. (2013). Cultural variation in adult attachment: The impact of ethnicity, collectivism, and country of origin. *Journal of Social, Evolutionary, and Cultural Psychology*, 7(4), 384–405.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Orgnizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50, 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, *103*(3), 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411
- Anderson, K. J. (2001). Internet use among college students: an exploratory study. *Journal of American College Health*, 50(1), 21–26.
- Awang, Z. (2015). SEM made simple. Bandar Baru Bangi: MPWS Rich Education.
- Ballester-Arnal, R., Calvo, J. C., Gil-Llario, D., & Gil-Julia, B. (2016). Cybersex Addiction: A Study on Spanish College Students. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2016.1208700
- Bartholomew, K. (1997). Adult attachment processes: individual and couple perspectives. *The British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 70 (Pt 3), 249-63-90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8341.1997.tb01903.x
- Bartlett, J. E., Kotrlik, J. W., & Higgins, C. C. (2001). Organizational Research: Determining Appropriate Sample Size in Survey Research Appropriate Sample Size in Survey Research. *Information Technology, Learning and Performance Journal*, 19(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1109/LPT.2009.2020494
- Blain, M. D., Thompson, J. M., & Whiffen, V. E. (1993). Attachment and perceived social support in late adolescence: the interaction between working models of self and others. *Journal of Adolescent Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/074355489382006
- Bocock, R. (1976). *Freud and modern society*. Great Britain: Ezbenezer baylis and Son Ltd.
- Bowlby, J. (1977a). The making and breaking of affectional bonds. I. Aetiology and psychopathology in the light of attachment theory. An expanded version of the Fiftieth Maudsley Lecture, delivered before the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 19 November 1976. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 130(3), 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.130.3.201
- Bowlby, J. (1977b). The making and breaking of affectional bonds. II. Some principles of psychotherapy. The fiftieth Maudsley lecture (expanded version). *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *130*, 421–431. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.130.5.421
- Bretherton, I. (1992). The origins of attachment theory: John Bowlby and Mary Ainsworth. *Developmental Psychology*, 28(5), 759–775. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.28.5.759
- Bridges, A. J., Bergner, R. M., & Hesson-McInnis, M. (2003). Romantic partner's use of pornography: Its significance for women. *Journal of Sex and Marital Therapy*, 29, 1–14.

- Byrne, B. M. (2010). Structural Equation Modeling with AMOS. Structural Equation Modeling (Second Edi, Vol. 22). New York: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410600219
- Carr, S., Colthurst, K., Coyle, M., & Elliott, D. (2013). Attachment dimensions as predictors of mental health and psychosocial well-being in the transition to university. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 28(2), 157–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-012-0106-9
- Cheng, H. L., McDermott, R. C., & Lopez, F. G. (2015). Mental Health, self-stigma, and help-seeking intentions among emerging adults. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 43(3), 463–487. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000014568203
- Chibba, M. (2013). Human Trafficking and Migration: Concepts, Linkages and New Frontiers, (December).
- Collins, N. L. (1996). Working models of attachment: implications for explanation, emotion and behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(4), 810–32. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.71.4.810
- Collins, N. L., & Feeney, B. C. (2004). Working models of attachment shape perceptions of social support: Evidence from experimental and observational studies. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(3), 363–383. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.87.3.363
- Collins, N. L., & Feeney, B. C. (2013). Attachment and caregiving in adult close relationships: normative processes and individual differences. *Attachment & Human Development*, 15(3), 241–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2013.782652
- Collins, N. L., Guichard, A. C., Ford, M. B., & Freeney, B. C. (2004). Working models of attachment: New Development and emerging themes. In W. S. Rholes & J. A. Simpson (Eds.), *Adult Attachment: Theory, research and clinical implications* (pp. 196–239). New York: Guilford Publications.
- Collins, N. L., & Read, S. J. (1990). Adult attachment, working models, and relationship quality in dating couples. *Journa of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58(4), 644.
- Cooper, A. (1998). Sexuality and the internet: surfing into new millenium. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 1(2), 187–193.
- Cooper, A., Delmonico, D. L., & Burg, R. (2000). Cybersex users, abusers, and compulsives: New findings and implications. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 7(1–2), 5–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160008400205
- Cooper, A., Delmonico, D. L., Griffin-Shelly, E., & Mathy, R. M. (2004). Online Sexual Activity: An Examination of Potentially Problematic Behaviors. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 11(3), 129–143. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160490882642
- Cooper, A., Morahan-Martin, J., Mathy, R. M., & Maheu, M. (2005). Toward an increased understanding of user demographics in online sexual activities. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 28(July 2012), 105–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/00926230252851861
- Corey, G. (2009). *Theory and practice of counseling and psychoteraphy* (Eight). California: Thomson Brooks/Cole.

- Covenant Eyes. (2015). Pornography Statistics. Miami: Covenant Eyes Inc. Retrieved from http://www.ministryoftruth.me.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/IFR2013.pdf
- Cresswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Boston: Pearson.
- Czyz, E. K., Horwitz, A. G., Eisenberg, D., Kramer, A., & King, C. A. (2013). Self-reported barriers to professional help seeking among college students at elevated risk for suicide. *Journal of American College Health*, 61(7), 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2013.820731
- Daneback, K., Cooper, A., & Månsson, S. A. (2005). An internet study of cybersex participants. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 34(3), 321–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-005-3120-z
- Delmonico, D. L. (1997). Cybersex: High tech sex addiction. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 4, 159–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720169708400139
- Dendy, A. M. (2008). Exploring cybersex and alcohol addiction in college students.

 Mississipi State University. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/304515312?pq-origsite=gscholar
- Drouin, M., & Landgraff, C. (2012). Texting, sexting, and attachment in college students' romantic relationships. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28(2), 444–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2011.10.015
- Döring, N. M. (2009). The Internet's impact on sexuality: A critical review of 15 years of research. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25(5), 1089–1101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2009.04.003
- Fasugba-Idowu, G. T., & Siti Aishah, H. (2013). Cybersex: Advantages and disadvantages. *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences (IOSR-JHSS)*, 14(3), 60–65.
- Feeney, J. A., & Noller, P. (1991). Attachment style and verbal description of romantic partners. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 8, 187–215.
- Fernández, A. M., & Dufey, M. (2015). Adaptation of Collins' revised adult attachment dimensional scale to the Chilean context. *Psicologia: Reflexão E Crítica*, 28(2), 242–252. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-7153.201528204
- Ferree, M. (2003). Women and the web: Cybersex activity and implications. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 18(3), 385–393. https://doi.org/10.1080/1468199031000153973
- Fischer, E. H., & Turner, J. I. (1970). Orientations to seeking professional help: Development and research utility of an attitude scale. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *35*(1, Pt.1), 79–90. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0029636
- Fisher, E. H., & Farina, A. (1995). Attitudes towards seeking professional psychological help: A shortened fom and consideration for research. *Journal of College Students Development*.
- Ford, J. J., Durtschi, J. A., & Franklin, D. L. (2012). Structural therapy with a couple battling pornography addiction. *American Journal of Family Therapy*, 40(4), 336–348. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926187.2012.685003

- Fraenkel, J. R., & Wallen, N. E. (2012). *How to design and evaluate reserach in education* (Sixth). New York: Mc Graw Hill Higer Education.
- Fraley, R. C., & Shaver, P. R. (2000). Adult Romantic Attachment: Theoretical Developments, Emerging Controversies, and Unanswered Questions, 4(2), 132– 154.
- Freud, S. (1910). Three contributions to the sexual theory. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*. New York: The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease Publishing Company. Retrieved from https://www.stmarys-ca.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/files/Three_Contributions.pdf
- Freud, S. (1920). Beyond the plasure principal. *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud*, (4).
- Freud, S. (1923). The ego and the id. Retrieved from https://docs.google.com/viewerng/viewer?url=http://www.sigmundfreud.net/the-ego-and-the-id.pdf
- Freud, S. (1955). Beyond the pleasure principle group psychology and other works.

 London: The Hogarth Press Limited. Retrieved from http://users.clas.ufl.edu/burt/Freud.pdf
- Freud, S. (1976). Introductory lecturers on Psychoanalysis.
- Ghoroghi, S. (2016). Influence of personality, religiosity, risk-taking attitudes on cybersex engagement among postgraduate students in the Klang Valley, Malaysia. Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Ghoroghi, S., Siti Aishah, H., & Ahmad Fauzi, M. A. (2017). The influence of religiosity and risk taking on cybersex engagement among postgraduate students: A study in Malaysian universities. *International Journal of Social Science and Humanity*, 7(3), 143–152. https://doi.org/10.18178/ijssh.2017.7.3.810
- Gilliland, R., Star, J. B., Hansen, B., & Carpenter, B. (2014). Relationship ttachment styles in a sample of hypersexual patients. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2014.958787
- Goldberg, P. D., Peterson, B. D., Rosen, K. H., & Sara, M. L. (2008a). Cybersex; The impact of contemporary problem on the practices of marriage and family therapist. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *34*(4), 469–480.
- Goldberg, P. D., Peterson, B. D., Rosen, K. H., & Sara, M. L. (2008b). Cybersex: The impact of a contemporary problem on the practices of marriage and family therapists. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 34(4), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2008.00089.x
- Griffiths, M. (2001). Sex on the internet: Observations and implications for internet sex addiction. *Journal of Sex Research*, 38(4), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490109552104
- Griffiths, M. D. (2012). Internet sex addiction: A review of empirical research. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 20(2), 111–124. https://doi.org/10.3109/16066359.2011.588351
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2014). *Multivariate Data Analysis 7th Edition* (Seventh). Essex: Pearson Education.

- Hamsi, A. S., Bahry, F. D. S., Tobi, S. N. M., & Masrom, M. (2015). Cybercrime over Internet Love Scams in Malaysia: A Discussion on the Theoretical Perspectives, Connecting Factors and Keys to the Problem. *Journal of Management Research*, 7(1), 27–39. https://doi.org/10.5296/jmr.v7i2.6938
- Hazan, C., Gur-Yaish, N., & Campa, M. (2004). What does it mean to be attached? In
 W. S. Rholes & J. A. Simpson (Eds.), *Adult Attachment: Theory, research and clinical implications* (pp. 55–85). New York: Guilford Publications.
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(3), 511–524. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.3.511
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. R. (1994). Deeper Into Attachment Theory. *Psychological Inquiry*, 5(1), 68–79. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0501
- Hill, C. E., Satterwhite, D. B., Larrimore, M. L., Mann, A. R., Johnson, V. C., Simon, R. E., ... Knox, S. (2012). Attitudes about psychotherapy: A qualitative study of introductory psychology students who have never been in psychotherapy and the influence of attachment style. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 12(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/14733145.2011.629732
- Hill, E. M., & Gick, M. L. (2013). Attachment and barriers to cervical screening. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105312454910
- Ho, R. (2014). *Multivariate Data Analysis with IBM SPSS*. Florida: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Hollitscher, W. (1998). Sigmund Freud an introduction a presentation of his theory, and a discussion of the relationship between psycho-analysis and sociology. London: Routledge.
- Hughes, D. M. (2000). The internet and sex industries: Partners in global sexual exploitation. *IEEE Technology and Society Magazine*, 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1109/44.828562
- Jamaludin, A. (2014). *Kaunseling untuk siapa?* Serdang: Penerbit Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Jazilah, J., & Siti Aishah, H. (2014). Seks siber dan kemurungan dalam kalangan remaja lewat usia: Satu tinjauan. In *Graduate research in education*.
- Karapetsas, A. V, & Fotis, A. J. (2013). The phenomenon of cybersex addiction . Its reasons, diagnosis and how to fight it off. *Enchephalos*, 50, 104–108.
- Keshavarz, S., & Rozumah, B. (2009). Parenting style in a collectivist cultures of Malaysia. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 10(1), 66–73.
- Kline, R. B. (2016). *Principles and practices of structural equation modelling*. *Methodology in the social sciences* (Fourth). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Komiya, N., Good, G. E., & Sherrod, N. B. (2000). Emotional Openness as a predictor of college students $\hat{a} \in \mathbb{C}^{TM}$ attitudes toward seeking psychological help. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 47(1), 138–143.
- Kowalski, R. M., & Limber, S. P. (2013). Psychological, physical, and academic correlates of cyberbullying and traditional bullying. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 53, S13–S20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.09.018

- Laier, C., & Brand, M. (2014). Empirical evidence and theoretical considerations on factors contributing to cybersex addiction from a cognitive-behavioral view. Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity, 21(4), 305–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720162.2014.970722
- Laier, C., Pawlikowski, M., Pekal, J., Schulte, F. P., & Brand, M. (2013). Cybersex addiction: Experienced sexual arousal when watching pornography and not real-life sexual contacts makes the difference. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 2(2), 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1556/JBA.2.2013.002
- Landau, J., Garrett, J., & Webb, R. (2008). Assisting a concerned person to motivate someone experiencing cybersex into treatment Application of invitational intervention: The ARISE model to cybersex. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *34*(4), 498–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2008.00091.x
- Levin, M. E., Lillis, J., & Hayes, S. C. (2012). When is Online Pornography Viewing Problematic Among College Males? Examining the Moderating Role of Experiential Avoidance. *The Journal of Treatment & Prevention*, 19(3), 168–180. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720162.2012.657150
- Li, D., & Zheng, L. (2016). Relationship quality predicts online sexual activities among Chinese heterosexual men and women in committed relationships. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 244–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.075
- Li, M., Wong, P., Chan, M., Law, Y., Fu, K., Chau, M., & Yip, P. (2015). Sexual and mental health in compensated dating in youth in Hong Kong: An exploratory quantitative study. *Jacobs Journal of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine*, *1*(1), 6. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10722/214536%0AThis
- Lo, V. H., & Wei, R. (2005). Exposure to Internet pornography and taiwanese adolescents' sexual attitides and behaviour. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 49(2), 221–237.
- Lopez, F. G., Melendez, M. C., & Rice, K. G. (2000). Parental divorce, parent-child bonds, and adult attachment orientations among college students: A comparison of three racial/ethnic groups. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 47(2), 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.47.2.177
- Low, S. K., Kok, J. K., & Lee, M. N. (2013). A holistic approach to school-based counselling and guidance services in Malaysia. *School Psychology International*, 34(2), 190–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034312453398
- Lu, H., Ma, L., Lee, T., Hou, H., & Liao, H. (2014). The link of sexual sensation seeking to acceptance of cybersex , multiple sexual partners , and one-night stands among Taiwanese college students. *The Journal of Nursing Research*, 22(3), 208–215. https://doi.org/10.1097/jnr.000000000000000043
- Ma, K. (2006). Attachment theory in adult psychiatry. Part 1: Conceptualisations, measurement and clinical research findings. *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment*, 12(6), 440–449. https://doi.org/10.1192/apt.12.6.440
- Masud, M. M., Ahmed, S., Rahman, M., & Akhtar, R. (2016). Measuring psychological effects and internet addiction towards academic performance of tertiary students in Malaysia. *International Journal in Business and Technology*, *9*, 991–1002. https://doi.org/10.17722/ijrbt.v9i1.465

- Masuda, A., Anderson, P. L., & Edmonds, J. (2012). Help-Seeking Attitudes, Mental Health Stigma, and Self-Concealment Among African American College Students. *Journal of Black Studies*, 43(7), 773–786. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934712445806
- McEachern, A. G., McEachern-Ciattoni, R. T., & Martin, F. (2012). Sexting: New challenges for schools and professional school counselors. *Journal of School Counseling*, 10(20), n20.
- MCMC. (2015). Communications & Multimedia Pocket Book of Statistics Q4 2014. Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Comission. Cyberjaya: Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Comission. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- MCMC. (2017). *Internet users survey 2017*. Cyberjaya. Retrieved from http://www.mcmc.gov.my
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2012). An attachment perspective on psychopathology. *World Psychiatry*, *11*(1), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wpsyc.2012.01.003
- Mitchell, K. ., Finkelhor, D., & Wolak, J. (2003). The exposure of youth to unwanted sexual material on the Internet: a national survey of risk, impact, and prevention. *Youth & Society*, 34(3), 330–358.
- Mohd. Zaliridrizal, Z., & Dini Farhana, B. (2011). Ketagihan seks siber: Pengalaman kaunselor di Malaysia. In *PERKAMA International Convention 2011*. Retrieved from http://ddms.usim.edu.my/bitstream/123456789/5264/1/3 Ketagihan Seks Siber% 3B Pengalaman Kaunselor di Malaysia.pdf
- Nam, S. K., Choi, S. I., Lee, J. H., Lee, M. K., Kim, A. R., & Lee, S. M. (2013). Psychological factors in college students' attitudes towards seeking professional psychological help: A meta-analysis. *Professional Psychology, Research and Practice*, 44(1), 37–45.
- Neutze, J., Seto, M. C., Schaefer, G. A., Mundt, I. A., & Beier, K. M. (2011). Predictors of child pornography offenses and child sexual abuse in a community sample of pedophiles and hebephiles. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Rsearch and Treatment*, 23(2), 212–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/1079063210382043
- Neutze, J., Seto, M. C., Schaefer, G. A., Mundt, I. A., & Beier, K. M. (2011). Predictors of child pornography offenses and child sexual abuse in a community sample of pedophiles and hebephiles. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment*, 23(2), 212–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/1079063210382043
- Nor Aishah, A., Yin, T. S., Othman, A. R., & Che Rohani, Y. (2011). Sensistivity of normality test to non-normal data. *Sains Malaysiana*, 40, 637–641.
- Nor Syafini, M. M., Hanif Suhairi, A. B., & Huzili, H. (2015). Identifying the definitions of sexting phenomenon described by adolescents. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, *9*(37), 346–350.
- NPFDB. (2016a). Fifth Malaysian population and family survey [mpfs-5] 2014. Kuala Lumpur.
- NPFDB. (2016b). Seksualiti remaja: Isu dan cabaran keluarga di Malaysia.
- Odacı, H., & Çıkrıkçı, Ö. (2014). Problematic internet use in terms of gender, attachment

- styles and subjective well-being in university students. Computers in Human Behavior, 32, 61–66.
- Ognibene, T. C., & Collins, N. L. (1998). Adult attachment styles, perceived social support and coping strategies. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*.
- Olivia, T. S. L., Shereen, K., & Rohani, A. R. (2015). Anti-sexting and cyberlaws in Malaysia. *Australian Journal of Sustainable Business and Society*, *1*(1), 66–70.
- Owen, J. J., Rhoades, G. K., Stanley, S. M., & Fincham, F. D. (2010). "Hooking Up" Among College Students: Demographic and Psychosocial Correlates. *Arch Sex Behav*, *39*, 653–663. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-008-9414-1
- Owoyemi, M. Y., Din, A. K., Sabri, A. Z., & Ahmad, S. (2015). The diaspora Nogerian's image problem of drug and fraud: a case study of the Malaysian-Inonesian Experience through newspaper reports. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 11(2), 55. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/p408507/journal-of-social-sciences/i3831587/vol-11-no-2-2015
- Park, H., & Kang, S. J. (2013). Cybersex addiction among Korean college students: Current status and relationships of sexual knowledge and sexual attitude. *Journal of Korean Public Health Nursing*, 27(3), 608–618. https://doi.org/10.5932/JKPHN.2013.27.3.608
- Paul, B., & Shim, J. W. (2008). Gender, sexual affect, and motivations for Internet pornography use. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 20(3), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1080/19317610802240154
- Perry, M., Accordino, M. P., & Hewes, R. L. (2007). An Investigation of Internet Use, Sexual and Nonsexual Sensation Seeking, and Sexual Compulsivity among College Students. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity: The Journal of Treatment & Prevention*, 14(4), 321–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160701719304
- Rimington, D. (2007). Cybersex Use and Abuse: Implications for Health Education.
- Rimington, D. D., & Gast, J. (2013). Cybersex Use and Abuse: Implications for Health Education, (October 2014), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2007.10598940
- Rosliza, A. (2015). The effects of Marital Psycho-Spiritual Intervention (MP-SI) on personality, communication, and attachment among Muslim spouses at Felda in Kedah, Malaysia. Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Rosliza, A., & Siti Aishah, H. (2014). Reliability analysis of the Revised Adult Attachment Scale (RAAS) instrument in the Malaysian context. *Elixir Social Sciences*, 77, 29098–29100.
- Schimmenti, A., Passanisi, A., Gervasi, A. M., Manzella, S., & Famà, F. I. (2014). Insecure attachment attitudes in the onset of problematic internet use among late adolescents. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 45(5), 588–595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-013-0428-0
- Schneider, J. (2003). The impact of compulsive cybersex behaviours on the family. Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 18(3), 329–354. https://doi.org/10.1080/146819903100153946
- Schneider, J. P. (2000). A qualitative study of cybersex participants: Gender differences,

- recovery issues, and implications for therapists. *Sexual Addiction and Compulsivity*, 7(4), 249–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160008403700
- Schwartz, M. F., & Southern, S. (2000). Compulsive Cybersex: The New Tea Room. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 7(1–2), 127–144. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160008400211
- Searle, B., & Meara, N. M. (1999). Affective dimensions of attachment styles: Exploring self-reported attachment style, gender, and emotional experience among college students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 46(2), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.46.2.147
- See, C. M., & Ng, K.-M. (2010). Counseling in Malaysia: History, current status, and future trends. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 88, 18–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2010.tb00144.x
- Şenormancı, Ö., Şenormancı, G., Güçlü, O., & Konkan, R. (2014). Attachment and family functioning in patients with internet addiction. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 36(2), 203–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2013.10.012
- Siti Aishah, H. (2011). Islamizing object relations family therapy. In World Congress in Islamic System (World-ISLAM2011) (pp. 1–12).
- Siti Aishah, H. (2013). Adolescent's Sexual Activities Inventory. Malaysia: Copyright Officer of Malaysia.
- Siti Aishah, H. (2015). Islamic transcendental wellbeing model for Malaysian muslim women: Implication on counseling. *Asian Social Science*, 11(21), 331–341. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v11n21p331
- Siti Aishah, H. (2017). Inventori Internet dan Tingkah Laku Seksual. Malaysia: Putra Science Park.
- Siti Aishah, H., Ahmad Fauzi, M. A., & Kaseh, A. B. (2015). Final report on exploring Islamic psycho-sexual cyber intervention for cybersex compulsive users, mental helath and marital satisfaction among Facebook users in Malaysia. Serdang.
- Siti Aishah, H., Ahmad Fauzi, M. A., & Mansor, A. T. (2013). Final report research on effectiveness of Islamic psycho-sexual cyber intervention on marital conflict and sexual satisfaction 06-02-12-1963RU. Serdang.
- Siti Aishah, H., & Kaseh, A. B. (2008). Exploratory versus confirmatory factor analysis. In F. A. Rahman, F. Piee@Shafiee, & H. Elias (Eds.), *Teachers' learning, curriculum innovations and knowledge applications* (pp. 128–137). Serdang: Faculty of Educational Studies, UPM.
- Siti Aishah, H., & Kaseh, A. B. (2016). Rasch model analysis for Malaysian Internet and Sexual Inventory. In Selangor (Ed.), *Prosiding seminar hasil penyelidikan IPSAS bersama rakan industri 2016* (pp. 36–40). Serdang: Institut Pengajian Sains Sosial.
- Siti Aishah, H., & Mikhail, I. (2008). Maternal spirituality characteristics and sexual involvement. In A. Hussain, S. Jamaludin, O. Hashim, L. S. Cheong, M. M. Nor, & H. Sulaiman (Eds.), *Horizon of psychospiritual psychology* (pp. 289–310). New Delhi: Global Vision Publishing House.
- Siti Aishah, H., & Ruziah, G. (2012). *Quick tips fast track conducting quantitative research*. Bangi: Quty Researcher.

- Soorkia, R., Snelgar, R., & Swami, V. (2011). Factors influencing attitudes towards seeking professional psychological help among South Asian students in Britain. *Mental Helath, Religion and Culture, 14*(6), 613–623. https://doi.org/10.1080/13674676.2010.494176
- Sourthen, S. (2008). Treatment of Compulsive Cybersex Behavior. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 31, 697–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2008.06.003
- Southern, S. (2008). Treatment of compulsive cybersex behaviour, 31(4), 697–712.
- Starcevic, V., & Aboujaoude, E. (2015). Cyberchondria, cyberbullying, cybersuicide, cybersex: "new" psychopathologies for the 21st century? *World Psychiatry*, *14*(1), 97–100. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20195
- Suhaili, A. (2014). Pengaruh ketagihan internet dan kesihatan mental ke atas sikap mendapatkan bantuan kaunseling. Theisis Master Sains. Universiti Putra Malaysia. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Suradi, S. (2010). Psychological help seeking attitudes among Malaysian College and university students. *Procedia-Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 5, 426–430.
- Svedin, C. G., Akerman, I., & Priebe, G. (2011). Frequent users of pornography. A population based epidomiological stud of Swedish male adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 34(4), 779–788.
- Syamsul Anuar, I. (2003). Pengaruh dan kesan seks siber di kalangan pengguna di Malaysia. Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Syed, S. A., Nik Mohd Hazrul, N. H., Maisarah, A., Che Aniza, C. W., Sallehuddin, M. N., & Nor Asiah, O. (2014). Negative and positive impact of internet addiction on young adults: *Intangible Capital*, 10(3), 619–638.
- Szymanski, D. M., & Stewart-Richardson, D. N. (2014). Psychological, relational, and sexual correlates of pornography use on young adult heterosexual men in romantic relationships. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, 22(1), 64–82. https://doi.org/10.3149/jms.2201.64
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2014). *Using multivariate statistics* (Sixth). Essex: Pearson.
- Travis, L. a., Bliwise, N. G., Binder, J. L., & Horne-Moyer, H. L. (2001). Changes in clients' attachment styles over the course of time-limited dynamic psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 38*(2), 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.38.2.149
- Twohig, M. P., & Crosby, J. M. (2010). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a treatment for problematic internet pornography viewing. *Behavior Therapy*, 41(3), 285–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2009.06.002
- Ullman, J. B. (2013). Sructural equation modelling. In B. G. Tabachnick (Ed.), *Using multivariate statistics* (Sixth, pp. 681–785). New Jersey: Pearson.
- Vogel, D. L., & Wei, M. (2005). Adult Attachment and Help-Seeking Intent: The Mediating Roles of Psychological Distress and Perceived Social Support. *Journal* of Counseling Psychology, 52(3), 347–357. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.3.347
- Waterlow, L. (2015, October 19). Depraved Filipino cybersex dens where children as

- young as two are abused in front of webcams exposed in documentary- and many paying customers are British. *MailOnline*.
- Webber, R., & Wilmot, J. (2012). Somazone report: Social media and help seeking by young people on sexual assault. Fitzroy: Australian Catholic University.
- Weisskirch, R. S., & Delevi, R. (2011). "Sexting" and adult romantic attachment. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(5), 1697–1701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2011.02.008
- Wery, A., Devos, G., DeSutter, P., & Billieux, J. (2014). males' cybersex addiction: the role of impulsivitiy and affective states. Retrieved from https://oup.silverchair-cdn.com/oup/backfile/Content_public/Journal/alcalc/49/suppl_1/10.1093/alcalc/a gu054.68/2/agu054.68.pdf?Expires=1495629985&Signature=KF9a2X0gjrDqzfO Y83R37Vbb-i9nH~T9P9yP1dozZ5yw6zF2F2c6gcx8XTp5CyoUp8r2~PXwX2lw85pUBg0nx3 fMWSlr9K1uBul
- Wilhelm, K., Gillis, I., & Parker, G. (2016). Parental bonding and adult attachment style: The relationship between four category models. *Int J Womens Health Wellness*, 2, 16.
- Williams, B., Onsman, A., & Brown, T. (2010). Exploratory factor analysis: A five-step guide for novices. *Journal of Emergency Primary Health Care*, 8(13), 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585190701763982
- Wong, L. P. (2012). An exploration of knowledge, attitudes and behaviours of young multiethnic Muslim-majority society in Malaysia in relation to reproductive and premarital sexual practices. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(865), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-865
- Yakunina, E. S., & Weigold, I. K. (2011). Asian international students' intentions to seek counseling: Integrating cognitive and cultural predictors. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 2(3), 219–224. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024821
- You, H. S., & Malley-Morrison, K. (2000). Young Adult Attachment Styles and Intimate Relationships with Close Friends: A Cross-Cultural Study of Koreans and Caucasian Americans. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *31*, 528–534. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022100031004006
- Young, K. S. (2004). Internet Addiction: A New Clinical Phenomenon and Its Consequences. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 48(4), 402–415. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764204270278
- Young, K. S., Griffin-shelley, E., Cooper, A., O'mara, J., & Buchanan, J. (2000). Online infidelity: A new dimension in couple relationships with implications for evaluation and treatment. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 7(1–2), 59–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160008400207
- Zapf, J. L., Greiner, J., & Carroll, J. (2008). Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity: The Journal of Treatment & Prevention Attachment Styles and Male Sex Addiction. Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity: The Journal of Treatment & Prevention, 5(2), 158–175. https://doi.org/10.1080/10720160802035832

PUBLICATIONS

Journal

- Hawafi, H., Hassan, S.A & Ayob, A.F.M. (2015). Aktiviti seksual remaja dan internet: satu tinjauan. Jurnal Perkama, Vol 19, 83-90.
- Hawafi, H., Hassan, S. A., & Ayub, A. F. M. (2017). The Reliability Analysis for Malaysian Internet and Sexual Activities Inventory (MISAI) and Its Practical Implication. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences. Vol. 7. Special Issue - 4th International Conference on Educational Research and Practice 2017. 719-727.

Proceeding

- Harisa Hawafi, Siti Aishah Hassan & Ahmad Fauzi Ayyub (2014). Kemurungan dalam Kalangan Remaja. *Proceeding of Graduate Educational Research in Education Seminar GREduc 2015*
- Harisa Hawafi & Siti Aishah Hassan (2015). A Systematic Review on Love and Sexual Behaviours: Exploring the Differences Across The Years And Locations For Multicultural Benefits. *Proceeding of the 3rd International Conference on Educational Research and Practice (ICERP) 2015.* (pp 348 358). Serdang: Faculty of Educational Studies.
- Hassan, S. A., Ayob, A.F., Hawafi., H. & Ghoroghi, S. (2015). Who engage more in cybersexual activities, younger or older adolescents? Implications for marital, couple and family counseling. Paper presented at The 3rd International Conference on Educational Research and Practice 2015 on 25th August 2015, Putrajaya: Universiti Putra Malaysia
- Harisa Hawafi & Siti Aishah Hassan (2016). Gelombang teknologi: implikasi terhadap perkhidmatan bimbingan dan kaunseling di Malaysia. *Prosiding persidangan keunseling dan kerjaya 2016*. Serdang: FPP
- Harisa Hawafi & Siti Aishah Hassan (2016). The reliability analysis of Malaysian Internet and Sexual Activities Inventory (MISAI). *Prosiding seminar IPSAS bersama rakan industri 2016*. Serdang: IPSAS